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I. INTRODUCTION

The 2004 survey period yielded several noteworthy decisions relating
to federal trial practice and procedure, many of which concerned issues
of first impression in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. This Article
analyzes several recent developments in the Eleventh Circuit, including
significant rulings in the areas of evidence, civil procedure, statutory
interpretation, jurisdiction, as well as other issues of interest to the trial
practitioner.

II. JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL/STANDING

In Parker v. Wendy's International, Inc.,' plaintiff/debtor Vickie
Parker ("Parker") filed an employment discrimination action against
Wendy's International, Inc. ("Wendy's") before filing a petition for relief
under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.2 The Chapter 7 Bankruptcy
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1. 365 F.3d 1268 (11th Cir. 2004).
2. Id. at 1269-70; 11 U.S.C. § 541 (2000).
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Trustee, Thomas E. Reynolds (the "Trustee"), intervened in Parker's
employment discrimination action. The schedules in the bankruptcy
case did not list Parker's claim against Wendy's as an asset, and the
bankruptcy court granted Parker a "no asset" discharge. The Trustee
later learned Parker had failed to disclose her discrimination claims to
the bankruptcy court, and he moved to reopen the bankruptcy case to
allow for further administration of the bankruptcy assets. The
bankruptcy court granted the motion, and the Trustee moved to
intervene in the discrimination case or, alternatively, for substitution as
the real party in interest. The district court granted the motion to
intervene.3

Wendy's then moved to dismiss Parker's discrimination claims,
arguing that the claims were barred by judicial estoppel because Parker
failed to disclose the claims in the bankruptcy proceeding.4 Relying on
the Eleventh Circuit's reasoning in Burnes v. Pemco Aeroplex, Inc.,5

Wendy's argued that Parker was judicially estopped from bringing her
discrimination claims, because if she had scheduled the claims as assets
she would not have been entitled to the "no asset" discharge of her
debts.' In Burnes the court determined that a debtor was judicially
estopped from bringing employment discrimination claims because the
debtor had failed to disclose the claims in a concurrent bankruptcy
proceeding.' Addressing what was then an issue of first impression in
the Eleventh Circuit, the court set forth a two-prong test for determining
appropriate application of judicial estoppel: "[flirst, it must be shown
that the allegedly inconsistent positions were made under oath in a prior
proceeding. Second, such inconsistencies must be shown to have been
calculated to make a mockery of the judicial system."8 Finding Parker's
case to be "factually and procedurally indistinguishable" from Burnes,
the district court held that Parker was judicially estopped from bringing
her discrimination claims and dismissed her complaint with prejudice

The Trustee then moved for reconsideration, arguing that Parker's
case was distinguishable from Burnes and that imposing judicial
estoppel would not only result in an injustice to Parker's innocent
creditors, who would be denied the possibility of any recovery, but would

3. Parker, 365 F.3d at 1270.
4. Id. According to Wendy's, the bankruptcy court's reopening of Parker's proceeding

was relevant only as an acknowledgment that Parker's failure to disclose resulted in a
tangible benefit to Parker in the bankruptcy proceeding. Id.

5. 291 F.3d 1282 (11th Cir. 2002).
6. Parker, 365 F.3d at 1270.
7. Burnes, 291 F.3d at 1283.
8. Parker, 365 F.3d at 1271 (citing Burnes, 291 F.3d at 1285).
9. Id. at 1270.
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also grant a windfall to Wendy's by allowing it to escape liability at the
creditors' expense. The district court denied the motion, finding that the
distinctions between Parker's case and Burnes were not determinative.
The court concluded that judicial estoppel was appropriately applied to
Parker, who remained a party to the discrimination action, because she
was asserting claims that were inconsistent with her positions in the
bankruptcy proceeding.1°

On appeal the Trustee conceded that Parker took inconsistent
positions in the bankruptcy court and district court, but he argued that
Parker's inconsistent statements should not be attributed to him because
he did not know of the discrimination claims during the bankruptcy
proceedings, and therefore, did not take inconsistent positions in the two
courts. Further, he claimed that even if judicial estoppel would
otherwise bar Parker, it should not bar him, as Trustee, from pursuing
these claims on behalf of Parker's creditors.1 '

Deciding that the Trustee could pursue Parker's discrimination claims,
the Eleventh Circuit-in a surprising twist-held that "[tlhe correct
analysis here compels the conclusion that judicial estoppel should not be
applied at all," and that the question was more appropriately resolved
under a standing analysis. 12  Citing Section 541 of the Bankruptcy
Code,13 the court held that a pre-petition cause of action is property of
the Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate, and therefore, the Trustee is the
proper party in interest and is the only party with standing to prosecute
causes of action belonging to the estate. 4 Without expressly overruling
Burnes, the court questioned whether the court in Burnes had correctly
applied judicial estoppel. 5 Because the Trustee became the real party
in interest and the claims became an asset of the bankruptcy estate
when Parker filed her petition for the discrimination suit, the court
reversed the district court's judgment because the district court
improperly invoked judicial estoppel and the Trustee had standing.16

10. Id. at 1270-71.
11. Id. at 1271-72.
12. Id. at 1272.
13. 11 U.S.C. § 541.
14. Parker, 365 F.3d at 1272 (citing 11 U.S.C. §§ 323, 541(a)(1) (2000); Barger v. City

of Cartersville, 348 F.3d 1289, 1292 (11th Cir. 2003)).
15. Id.
16. Id. at 1273. Despite this holding, the court still used judicial estoppel language in

support of its decision, stating that "[tihe trustee made no false or inconsistent statement

under oath in a prior proceeding and is not tainted or burdened by the debtor's
misconduct." Id.
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III. CIVIL PROCEDURE/EVIDENCE

A. The Foundation for Lay Opinion Testimony about the Genuineness
of Handwriting Evidence Under Federal Rules of Evidence 901(b)(2)
and 701

In Hall v. United Insurance Co. , the Eleventh Circuit addressed the
"interplay" between Federal Rule of Evidence 901(b)(2) ("Rule 901(b)-
(2)"),'" which allows nonexpert opinion testimony about the genuine-
ness of handwriting evidence based on sufficient familiarity, and Federal
Rule of Evidence 701 ("Rule 701"),19 which allows lay opinion testimony
that is rationally based on personal perceptions and restricts admissible
lay testimony.2° Plaintiff Odessa Dee Hall ("Hall") filed an affidavit
stating that a signature on a document purporting to cancel an
insurance policy issued by defendant, United Insurance Company of
America ("United"), was not authentic. Hall made a claim for benefits
under the policy in her capacity as personal representative of the
beneficiary's estate. However, United produced a "Waiver of Premium"
form, which the policyholder ("signatory") purportedly signed, that
terminated the policy.21 Hall claimed, inter alia, that the signature on
the document purporting to cancel the policy was not the signatory's,
and she submitted an affidavit stating that:

Over the course of time that I knew [the signatory], [more than thirty
years,] I became familiar with his handwriting. I saw him write,
received correspondence from him and helped him review documents
which he executed in my presence. I have examined the purported
signatures of [the signatory appearing on the purported cancellation]
... and they do not appear to be his handwriting.22

The district court struck the affidavit under Rule 901(b)(2) because it
provided insufficient foundation detailing how Hall had become familiar
with the handwriting. Specifically, because Hall could not demonstrate
sufficient familiarity with the signatory's handwriting, the district court
held that Hall's opinion testimony was not rationally based on her own
perceptions and did not satisfy Rule 701.23

17. 367 F.3d 1255 (11th Cir. 2004).
18. FED. R. EVID. 902(b)(2).
19. FED. R. EVID. 701.
20. Hall, 367 F.3d at 1257.
21. Id. at 1257-58.
22. Id. at 1258.
23. Id. at 1259.
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The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the decision, noting that "[w]e have not
previously had occasion to detail the necessary foundation a lay person
must establish under Rules 901(b)(2) and 701 in order to testify
concerning handwriting."2 4 Looking to sister circuits for guidance on
how a witness can demonstrate familiarity with disputed handwriting,
the Eleventh Circuit concluded:

While witnessing the disputed signature is not required, we conclude
that the lay witness must provide more detailed information regarding
any "correspondence," "documents," or the like, relied upon to establish
familiarity. Such instruments must be identified with particularity.
Moreover, the lay witness must provide detailed information regarding
his or her relationship with the signatory-whether it be familial,
professional, or otherwise personal.25

Hall's affidavit did not provide "detailed information" about the
instruments Hall relied upon to become familiar with the signatory's
handwriting or about Hall's relationship with the signatory. Hall's
affidavit merely stated that she became familiar with the signatory's
handwriting over time because she had seen him write, she had received
correspondence from him, and she had seen him execute documents in
her presence. Because Hall's affidavit did not provide details about how
she was familiar with the signatory's handwriting or her relationship
with the signatory, her lay opinion was inadmissible.26

B. The Applicability of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 6(a) to the
Notice Requirements of the Clean Water Act

In American Canoe Ass'n v. City of Attalla, the Eleventh Circuit
affirmed the district court's dismissal of plaintiffs' private citizen suit
under the Federal Water Pollution Control Act ("Clean Water Act" or
"CWA"). 2

' The sole issue on appeal was whether Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 6(a)'s29 rules on computation of time applied to CWA
505(b)(1)'s notice requirements.3 1 Section 505(b)(1) provides a sixty-day
period after notice of a claimed violation of the CWA during which
private citizens must refrain from suit and during which the Govern-
ment has an exclusive right to initiate suit."' The district court,

24. Id.
25. Id. at 1261 (internal citations omitted).
26. Id. at 1260-61.
27. 363 F.3d 1085 (11th Cir. 2004).
28. Id. at 1085-86; 33 U.S.C. § 1251 (2000 & Supp. 2002).
29. FED. R. Civ. P. 6(a).
30. Am. Canoe Ass'n, 363 F.3d at 1086; 33 U.S.C. § 505(b)(1) (2000).
31. Am. Canoe Ass'n, 363 F.3d at 1086; 33 U.S.C. § 505(b)(1).
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concluding that Rule 6(a) governs the computation of the sixty-day notice
period under § 505(b)(1), found that plaintiffs' suit, filed on the sixty-
first day, was prematurely filed because the sixtieth day, a Sunday, did
not count.32

Arguing against application of Rule 6(a), plaintiffs first asserted that
Rule 6(a) applied only when a paper must be filed or some other act
taken within a prescribed time. Because plaintiffs were not required to
do anything within the sixty-day period, they argued that Rule 6(a)
should not apply and that there was no reason for extending the sixty-
day period to a day when the courts were open. Plaintiffs distinguished
the application of Rule 6(a) to other statutes, claiming that the sixty-day
period prescribed in § 505(b)(1) was not a statute of limitations, and that
the governmental entities were free to act after the sixty days had run
and after a citizen suit had been filed.3" Finally, plaintiffs argued (for
the first time on appeal) that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 82,"
which provides that the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are not to be
"construed to extend or limit the jurisdiction" of the district court, bars
application of Rule 6(a) to jurisdictional periods. 35 Plaintiffs character-
ized the sixty-day notice period as jurisdictional in nature, deeming it a
mandatory condition precedent to commencing suit that the district
courts may not disregard.3 6  Because "none of [the plaintiffs'] argu-
ments [were] persuasive," the court held that:

This circuit has long recognized as a general policy a legislative intent
to apply Rule 6(a) to all federal statutes enacted or amended after the
adoption of Rule 6(a). This policy generally prevails unless the statute
in question itself reflects a contrary intent. The Clean Water Act is
silent on how the 60-day notice period is to be calculated; no intent
contrary to application of Rule 6(a) is expressed or inferable from the
statute.

37

Because the court decided Rule 6(a) applies "in computing any period of
time," it held that the application of Rule 6(a), when the last day of the
prescribed time period is a Sunday, is not limited to time periods during
which an act must be taken. The CWA expressly gives both governmen-
tal entities and the violators a full sixty days "to consider and take
action."38 Because it was impossible for the Government to file suit on

32. 363 F.3d at 1085.
33. Id. at 1086-87.
34. FED. R. Civ. P. 82.
35. Am. Canoe Ass'n, 363 F.3d at 1087.
36. Id.
37. Id. at 1086 (internal citations omitted).
38. Id. at 1086-87.
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Sunday, if plaintiffs had been able to sue on Monday, it would have
effectively deprived the Government of the full sixty-day exclusive right
to sue. 39 Further, although the court could "see no good reason why the
time computations of Rule 6(a) should apply only when the time
measurement involves a statute of limitation," the court held that the
sixty-day notice period acts much like a statute of limitation by
delimiting the period during which governmental entities can exclusively
control enforcement actions.4 ° Finally, the court decided the § 505(b)(1)
notice requirement was more procedural than jurisdictional.4 1 Thus,
application of Rule 6(a)'s computational rules did not offend Rule 82.42

C. Restraints on Remand

In Yusefzadeh v. Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough, LLP,43 the
district court, sua sponte, remanded a lawsuit that had been removed to
federal court because defendant, by filing two motions to dismiss in state
court, had attempted to litigate the case in the state forum and had,
therefore, waived the right to remove." The Eleventh Circuit reversed,
holding that "based on the language of [28 U.S.C.] § 1447(c) the district
court may not sua sponte decide to remand the case for any procedural
defect other than lack of subject matter jurisdiction."45 The court noted
that the district court did not lack subject matter jurisdiction, and only
plaintiff could have raised any other procedural defects associated with
the removal, if any, under 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c)'s4 6 allotted time peri-
od.47 Thus, the court of appeals held that the district court erred by
remanding the case sua sponte.48

The court of appeals also held that filing a motion to dismiss did not
necessarily constitute a waiver of defendant's right to remove.49

Acknowledging that a determination regarding whether a state court
defendant has waived his right to remove must be made on a case-by-
case basis, the court noted that the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
contemplate the filing of a responsive pleading prior to the removal of a

39. Id. at 1087.
40. Id.
41. Id. at 1088.
42. Id.
43. 365 F.3d 1244 (11th Cir. 2004).
44. Id. at 1245.
45. Id.
46. 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) (2000).
47. Yusefzadeh, 365 F.3d at 1246.
48. Id.
49. Id.
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case.5" In Yusefzadeh, defendant, in compliance with state law, filed
two motions: one to dismiss in state court and one to remove to federal
court. Defendant did not schedule a hearing on the motions before
seeking removal, and the state court had not ruled on the motions to
dismiss prior to removal."' Thus, the court held that "[iln these
circumstances it cannot be said that [defendant] took substantial
offensive or defensive actions in state court, therefore he has not waived
his right to remove this action to federal court."52

D. Ability to Stay Proceedings in District Court Until Resolution of
Appeal From the Denial of a Motion to Compel Arbitration

In Blinco v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC,5" the Eleventh Circuit, in an
issue of first impression, decided that a party is entitled to a stay of all
proceedings in the district court during a "non-frivolous" appeal of a
denial of a motion to compel arbitration.54 In this putative class action
against Green Tree Servicing, LLC ("Green Tree"), plaintiffs alleged that
Green Tree failed to notify them of the transfer of the servicing of their
loan in violation of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act ("RES-
PA").55 Green Tree moved to stay the litigation and to compel arbitra-
tion under the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA")56 based on an arbitra-
tion clause contained in plaintiffs' promissory note. The district court
denied the motion to stay and to compel arbitration. Green Tree
appealed the denial of its motion to compel arbitration under the
FAA.57 The district court then refused to stay the litigation pending
the appeal because, although the appeal was not frivolous, the district
court did not want "'to set a precedent of placing cases on hold while
defendants seek interlocutory appeals of the [clourt's orders.'"58 The
district court also reasoned that a stay was unnecessary because the
issue of arbitrability would be decided on appeal before trial. Green
Tree then asked the Eleventh Circuit for the stay.59

Noting the split of authority in the circuits that had addressed the
issue, the Eleventh Circuit adopted the Seventh Circuit's reasoning and
held that, upon the filing of a non-frivolous appeal under the FAA, the

50. Id.
51. Id. at 1246-47.
52. Id. at 1247.
53. 366 F.3d 1249 (11th Cir. 2004).
54. Id. at 1251.
55. 12 U.S.C. §§ 2601-2605 (2000).
56. 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16 (2000 & Supp. 2002).
57. Blinco, 366 F.3d at 1250.
58. Id.
59. Id. at 1250-51.
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district court should not exercise control over aspects of the case involved
in the appeal.60 Thus, upon motion, proceedings in the district court
should be stayed pending resolution of a nonfrivolous appeal from the
denial of a motion to compel arbitration.6 ' The Court held, in pertinent
part, as follows:

Section 16 of the Federal Arbitration Act grants a party the right to file
an interlocutory appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitra-
tion. By providing a party who seeks arbitration with swift access to
appellate review, Congress acknowledged that one of the principal
benefits of arbitration, avoiding the high cost and time involved in
judicial dispute resolution, is lost if the case proceeds in both judicial
and arbitral forums. If the court of appeals reverses and orders the
dispute arbitrated, then the cost of the litigation in the district court
incurred during appellate review have been wasted and the parties
must begin again in arbitration. As explained by the Seventh Circuit,
these considerations favor granting a motion to stay the proceedings in
the district court pending the resolution of an interlocutory appeal from
the denial of a motion to compel arbitration. Thus, the underlying
reasons for allowing immediate appeal of a denial of a motion to compel
arbitration are inconsistent with continuation of proceedings in the
district court, and a non-frivolous appeal warrants a stay of those
proceedings.6"

If the district court denies the motion to stay, then the appellant may
file a motion to stay in the Eleventh Circuit.6 3 If the Eleventh Circuit
determines that the appeal is nonfrivolous, then the Eleventh Circuit
will order a stay of the litigation in the district court pending the appeal
of the denial of the motion to compel arbitration. 4

E. Allegations May be Aggregated to Establish Strong Inference of
Scienter Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

In Phillips v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.," the Eleventh Circuit, address-
ing a specific aspect of the pleading standard under the Private

60. Id. at 1251 (citing Bradford-Scott Data Corp., Inc. v. Physician Computer Network,
Inc., 28 F.3d 504 (7th Cir. 1997) (holding that, upon motion, a stay of litigation in the
district court is proper during the pendency of a nonfrivolous appeal of a denial of a motion
to compel arbitration)).

61. Id.
62. Id. at 1251-52 (internal citations omitted).
63. Id. at 1253.
64. Id.
65. 374 F.3d 1015 (11th Cir. 2004).
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Securities Litigation Reform Act ("PSLRA"), 6 concluded that factual
allegations may be aggregated to infer scienter, and scienter must be
inferred for each defendant with respect to each violation. 7 This
appeal arose from a securities fraud class action in which plaintiffs
alleged that defendants falsely portrayed the company's financial
performance and exaggerated the demand for its products in violation of
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("the Act").6 8

Plaintiffs also alleged that the individual defendants were liable for the
company's violations as controlling persons of the company under Section
20(a) of the Act. 9 Defendants moved to dismiss on the grounds that,
inter alia, plaintiffs failed to plead fraud with the requisite particularity
under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b)7" and the separate pleading
standard in the PSLRA.7 1 The district court refused to dismiss, noting
that although the individual allegations in the complaint, considered in
isolation, may not have given rise to a strong inference of scienter, the
allegations did create an inference when viewed collectively.72 On
appeal the court was presented with the narrow question of whether
"'allegations that standing alone do not give rise to a 'strong inference'
of scienter under the [PSLRA] may nevertheless be aggregated to create
such a finding.'

7 3

The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the decision, stating that "[niothing in
[the language of the PSLRA] suggests that scienter may only be inferred
from individual facts, each of which alone gives rise to a strong inference
of scienter, rather than from an aggregation of particularized facts."74

66. Pub. L. No. 104-57, § 1(a), 109 Stat. 737 (codified as amended in scattered sections
of 15 U.S.C.).

67. Phillips, 374 F.3d at 1015-16.
68. Id. at 1016; 15 U.S.C. § 10(b) (2000).
69. Phillips, 374 F.3d at 1015-16; 15 U.S.C. § 20(a) (2000).
70. FED. R. Civ. P. 9(b).
71. Phillips, 374 F.3d at 1016.
72. Id. (citing In re Sci. Atlanta, 239 F. Supp. 2d 1351, 1362-63, 1364-65 (N.D. Ga.

2002)).
73. Id.
74. Id. at 1017.

Under the PSLRA, a securities fraud complaint must plead fraud with particulari-
ty and allege facts giving rise to a strong inference of scienter. The statute states
that the complaint "shall specify each statement alleged to have been misleading,
the reason or reasons why the statement is misleading, and, if an allegation
regarding the statement or omission is made on information and belief, the
complaint shall state with particularity all facts on which that belief was formed,"
and "shall, with respect to each act or omission alleged to violate this chapter,
state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant
acted with the required state of mind."

Id. at 1016-17 (internal citations omitted).

1370 [Vol. 56



TRIAL PRACTICE

Further, the court held that the complaint must sufficiently allege
scienter with respect to each defendant and with respect to each alleged
violation of the statute.75 The court based this holding on its belief
that "the plain meaning of the statutory language compels the conclusion
that scienter must be alleged with respect to each alleged violation of the
statute."7 6 Therefore, to proceed beyond the pleading stage, a plaintiff
must allege facts sufficiently demonstrating each defendant's state of
mind regarding his or her alleged violations. 7

' Having concluded that
the complaint contained factual allegations "amply linking each
defendant to his alleged violations of the statute and attributing the
required scienter to each defendant with respect thereto," the appellate
court affirmed the district court's decision.78

F A Nonmoving Party's Ability to Raise New Legal Claims for the
First Time in Response to a Motion for Summary Judgment

In Gilmour v. Gates, McDonald & Co. ,7 the court addressed whether
a nonmoving party plaintiff may raise a new legal claim for the first
time in response to a summary judgment motion." This case concerned
a dispute about coverage under a post-employment insurance policy that
Gates, McDonald & Co. ("Gates") administered for the Red Cross.
Plaintiff Terry Gilmour ("Gilmour") was working for the Red Cross when
she became ill and required medical treatment, which the policy
purportedly covered. Gilmour filed her initial action in state court,
asserting claims for negligent misrepresentation, promissory estoppel,
bad faith and negligence per se, infliction of emotional distress, tortious
interference with contract, and attorney fees. None of these causes of
action asserted a claim against Gates based on its contract with the Red
Cross. Gates removed the action to federal court on diversity grounds,
and, after discovery commenced, filed a motion for summary judg-
ment.8 1

75. Id. at 1017-18. Although this issue was not specifically certified for appeal, the

court "exercise[d] [its] discretion to address that issue because it is closely related to the

certified question." Id. at 1017.
76. Id. at 1018. "The text of the PSLRA requires that plaintiffs, 'with respect to each

act or omission alleged to violate this chapter, state with particularity facts giving rise to

a strong inference that the defendant acted with the required state of mind.'" Id. (citing
15 U.S.C. § 78(u)(4)(B)(ii) (1998)).

77. Id.
78. Id. at 1019.
79. 382 F.3d 1312 (11th Cir. 2004).
80. Id. at 1313.
81. Id. at 1313-14.
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In response to Gates's motion for summary judgment, Gilmour
withdrew certain claims but also asserted a new claim based on "breach
of duty" under contract law. This claim was premised on Gates's alleged
breach of duty to Gilmour, as a third-party beneficiary, when Gates
failed to properly administer her claim under the contract between Gates
and the Red Cross. The district court granted summary judgment on the
remaining counts but did not address the new "breach of duty" claim.
Although Gilmour did not challenge the grant of summary judgment to
Gates on her tort claims, she did challenge the district court's failure to
rule on the "breach of duty" claim.82

While acknowledging that the pleading standard under Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 8(a) 3 is liberal, the court nonetheless held as follows:

This standard however does not afford plaintiffs with an opportunity
to raise new claims at the summary judgment stage. Indeed, the
"simplified notice pleading standard relies on liberal discovery rules
and summary judgment motions to define disputed facts and issues and
to dispose of unmeritorious claims." Efficiency and judicial economy
require that the liberal pleading standards under . . . Rule 8(a) are
inapplicable after discovery has commenced. At the summary
judgment stage, the proper procedure for plaintiffs to assert a new
claim is to amend the complaint in accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P.
15(a). A plaintiff may not amend her complaint through argument in
a brief opposing summary judgment.'

Accordingly, the court determined that Gilmour's attempt to assert the
breach of contract claim in her opposition to Gates' summary judgment
motion had no effect.8 5

IV. ERISA

A. Enforceability of Anti-Assignment Clauses in Benefit Plans
Governed by ERISA

In Physicians Multispecialty Group v. Health Care Plan of Horton
Homes, Inc.,"s the court, in another case of first impression, refused to
allow an assignee of welfare benefits under an ERISA-governed plan to

82. Id. Gilmour also appealed the court's grant of summary judgment on the attorney
fees claim. Id. at 1316.

83. FED. R. Civ. P. 8(a).
84. Gilmour, 382 F.3d at 1314-15 (internal citations omitted) (citing Swierkiewicz v.

Sorema N.A., 534 U.S. 506 (2002) (mandating a liberal pleading standard for civil
complaints under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a))).

85. Id. at 1315.
86. 371 F.3d 1291 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 77 U.S.L.W. 332 (2004).
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bring suit for those benefits when the plan expressly forbid assign-
ments.87 Defendants ("Horton Homes") offered and funded a medical
benefit plan to its employees pursuant to the Employment Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA")."8 The plan extended coverage
to dependents of Horton Homes' employees as long as the dependents
met certain conditions. In September 1999 a Horton Homes employee
enrolled himself and his children in the plan. Two years later, one of his
children contracted a severe infection for which she was hospitalized and
treated by physicians practicing with Physicians Multispecialty Group
("PMG"). The child died after being hospitalized for more than one
month. 9

Shortly after the child's death, PMG obtained a written assignment
from the administrator of the child's estate and filed a claim under the
plan to recover the cost of medical services it had rendered to the child.
The plan's administrator denied the claims, and PMG filed suit seeking
to establish the child's eligibility for benefits and to recover the cost of
medical services rendered. 90 Although ERISA is silent on whether
providers such as PMG could obtain derivative standing based upon an
assignment of rights from ERISA plan beneficiaries, the plan's provisions
stated in clear terms that "[elxcept as applicable law may otherwise
require, no amount payable at any time ... shall be subject in any
manner to alienation by ... assignment ... of any kind[].""

The district court, sua sponte, raised the issue of PMG's standing at
the summary judgment hearing, and Horton Homes argued that PMG
lacked statutory standing to bring suit. Because Horton Homes failed
to address the statutory standing issue in its supplemental brief, the
district court concluded that any dispute about PMG's standing was
moot and granted PMG's motion for summary judgment.92 On appeal,
the Eleventh Circuit was asked to determine whether PMG, a provid-
er/assignee, had standing, as if it were a beneficiary of the ERISA plan,
by virtue of its assignment from the administrator, despite the terms of
the plan expressly forbidding such an assignment.93

The court rejected all of PMG's arguments, stating that it was
"persuaded by the reasoning of the majority of federal courts that have
concluded that an assignment is ineffectual if the plan contains an

87. Id. at 1292, 1296.
88. Id. at 1292-93; ERISA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001-1461 (2000).
89. PMG, 371 F.3d at 1293.
90. Id.
91. Id. at 1294, 1296.
92. Id. at 1293.
93. Id. at 1294.
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unambiguous anti-assignment provision."9 4 The court considered the
statute's silence on this issue and concluded that "Congressional silence
on the issue shows a Congressional intent to mandate assignability."9 5

While noting that prior Eleventh Circuit opinions favored the
recognition of assignments in ERISA-governed plans, the court had not
addressed this issue in a context when the plan itself prohibited
assignment.9" The court held that "Iblecause ERISA-governed plans
are contracts, the parties are free to bargain for certain provisions in the
plan-like assignability. Thus, an unambiguous anti-assignment
provision in an ERISA-governed benefit plan is valid and enforce-
able."97 Because the anti-assignment provision in the Horton Homes
plan was unambiguous, PMG was unable to maintain an ERISA action
on the basis of the purported assignment.9 8

B. A State's Standing to Pursue ERISA Claims on Behalf of Citizens
in its Capacity as Assignee and/or Parens Patriae

In another appeal concerning assignability of ERISA claims, the
Eleventh Circuit, in Connecticut v. Health Net, Inc.," addressed
whether a state, after obtaining assignments from its citizens for ERISA
claims, has standing to assert those claims on behalf of its citizens. 100

The State of Connecticut sued eight managed health care companies that
alleged ERISA violations after obtaining assignments from four citizens
who were enrolled in the managed care companies' ERISA plans.
Connecticut also brought suit in its capacity as parens patriae, a
common-law doctrine permitting states to sue under certain limited
circumstances to enforce what the Supreme Court has called a "quasi
sovereign" interest. Specifically, Connecticut contended that the
companies violated ERISA by using inappropriate and arbitrary
guidelines as the basis of coverage denials in the administration of
prescription drug claims. The district court dismissed the complaint for
lack of standing.1

Affirming the district court's dismissal, the Eleventh Circuit held that:

94. Id. at 1295.
95. Id. at 1296 (citing Davidowitz v. Delta Dental Plan of California, Inc., 946 F.2d

1476 (9th Cir. 1991)).
96. Id. at 1294-95.
97. Id. at 1296.
98. Id.
99. 383 F.3d 1258 (11th Cir. 2004), cert. denied, 73 U.S.L.W. 3494 (2005).

100. Id. at 1259.
101. Id. at 1259-61.
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no evidence exists in the record to suggest that this assignment was
supported by any consideration or that the State of Connecticut has
suffered, or will suffer, any type of injury as a result of the practices it
claims violate ERISA. It simply seeks to assert these claims on behalf
of its citizens and for their sole benefit. 10 2

In holding that Connecticut lacked standing as assignee of the citizens'
ERISA claims, the court focused on the fact that Connecticut did not
contend that it suffered any specific injury.0" Connecticut's failure to
allege any actual or imminent invasion of a legally protected, "concrete
and particularized" interest failed to meet Article III's irreducible
minimum requirement that a plaintiff must have suffered an injury-in-
fact.104

Additionally, the court rejected Connecticut's contentions that it had
standing to bring claims for ERISA violations in its capacity as parens
patriae.1 °9 The court held that when a state sues in its capacity as
parens patriae to enforce a federal statute, the state must demonstrate
that in enacting the statute, Congress clearly intended for states to be
able to bring actions in that capacity.'0° However, the Eleventh
Circuit held that "[n]o such intention can be derived from a plain
reading of ERISA."'O7  Connecticut relied on § 1132(a)(3), which
provides that only "a participant, beneficiary or fiduciary" may bring
suit. 8 The court decided that nothing in ERISA suggests that a state
may bring lawsuits on behalf of its citizens to enforce ERISA, and that
the plain language of the statute actually supports the conclusion that
Congress had no such intention.0 " Connecticut attempted to bootstrap
its assignment argument with its parens patriae argument, contending
that by allowing assignment of ERISA claims under certain circumstanc-
es, Congress evidenced its intent to permit states to proceed as parens

102. Id. at 1261.
103. Id.
104. Id. In reaching this holding, the Eleventh Circuit relied heavily on the Second

Circuit's holding in the similar case of Connecticut v. Physician's Health Services of
Connecticut, Inc., 287 F.3d 110 (2d Cir. 2002), cert denied, 537 U.S. 878 (2002). In that
case, the Second Circuit likewise affirmed a Connecticut district court's determination that
the State of Connecticut lacked standing to bring suit under ERISA in its capacity as an
assignee or in parens patriae.

105. Id.
106. Id. at 1261-62 (citing Alfred L. Snapp & Son, Inc. v. Puerto Rico ex. rel. Barez, 458

U.S. 592, 603-04 (1982)).
107. Id. at 1262.
108. Health Net, Inc., 383 F.3d at 1262 (citing 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3) (2000)).
109. Id.
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patriae upon obtaining assignments from its citizens. u The court also
rejected this argument, stating that if Congress truly intended for the
states to be able to proceed as parens patriae to enforce ERISA, it could
have plainly said so in the language of the statute.' Thus, the
Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district court's finding that Connecticut
lacked statutory standing to proceed in parens patriae."2

V. MISCELLANEOUS

A. The Wiretap Act

1. District Court's Discretion to Award Liquidated Damages
for Violations of the Wiretap Act. In DIRECTV, Inc. v. Brown,"3

the Eleventh Circuit addressed an issue of first impression for this court
that has created a split among the circuits: "whether an award of
liquidated damages, under 18 U.S.C. § 2520(c)(2), for a violation of the
Electronic Communications Privacy Act of 1986 ("Wiretap Act") is
mandatory or discretionary."" 4 DIRECTV, Inc. ("DTV"), a company
that provides satellite television programming, uses conditional access
technology that encrypts or scrambles its satellite transmissions to
prevent unauthorized viewing of its pay-per-view and premium
programming. For a fee, DTV provides its customers access cards to
decrypt or unscramble these satellite transmissions. Other companies
illegally market "pirate access devices" to circumvent this conditional
access technology. These devices allow users to receive the satellite
transmissions that DTV provides without paying DTV any fees." 5

Michael Brown ("Brown") "bought and used one of these pirate access
devices."" 6 DTV sued Brown and others, alleging that by receiving or
assisting others in receiving DTV's programming without authorization,
Brown violated the Wiretap Act," 7 which provides a civil remedy
against anyone who "intercepts, endeavors to intercept, or procures any
other person to intercept or endeavor to intercept any wire, oral, or

110. Id. at 1262 n.3.
111. Id.
112. Id. at 1262.
113. 371 F.3d 814 (11th Cir. 2004).
114. Id. at 815.
115. Id. at 816.
116. Id.
117. Electronic Communications Privacy Act of 1986, Pub. L. No. 99-508, § 1 (codified

as amended in scattered sections of 18 U.S.C.).
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electronic communication."118 At trial, DTV obtained a permanent
injunction against Brown and a judgment for actual damages, attorney
fees, and costs, but the district court refused to award DTV liquidated
damages under § 2520(c)(2). DTV appealed, contending that an award
of liquidated damages under § 2520(c)(2) was mandatory and that the
district court abused its discretion by declining the award.119

The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district court's decision to decline
the award and held, "along with three out of four of our sister circuits,
... that a district court has the discretion not to award liquidated
damages under section 2520(c)(2)."120 Determining this issue was
purely a matter of statutory interpretation, the court first looked to the
statutory text.121  The relevant damages provision in the statute
provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

In any other action under this section, the court may assess as
damages whichever is the greater of - (A) the sum of the actual
damages suffered by the plaintiff and any profits made by the violator
as a result of the violation; or (B) statutory damages of whichever is
the greater of $100 a day for each day of violation or $10,000.122

Noting that the words "the court may assess" appeared clear enough to
truncate this analysis, the court also looked to the legislative history of
the Wiretap Act to support the argument that Congress intended an
award of liquidated damages under this section to be discretionary. 123

Before it was amended in 1986, the Wiretap Act stated that "[any
person whose communication is intercepted ... shall . . . be entitled to
recover actual damages ... ."124 The 1986 amendments notably
changed the mandatory term "shall" to the permissive term "may."
Thus, the court concluded that Congress intended to delete the
mandatory aspect of awarding damages, including liquidated damages,
under § 2520(c)(2).

121

The court compared the language of § 2520(c)(2) with the contrasting
language of 18 U.S.C. § 2520(c)(1), which has mandatory language and
provides less damages for the interception of certain communications
that are not encrypted or scrambled. 126 Because the permissive term

118. DTV, 371 F.3d at 816 (citing 18 U.S.C. § 2511(1)(a) (2000)).
119. Id. at 815.
120. Id.
121. Id. at 816-17.
122. Id. at 817 (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 2520(c)(2) (2000)).
123. Id.
124. Id. (citing 18 U.S.C. § 2520) (emphasis added).
125. Id.
126. Id.
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"may" appears in subsection (c)(2), which actually provides more
damages for all other cases, the court held that Congress intended the
award of larger damages under subsection (c)(2) to be within the
discretion of the trial court.127 In so holding, the court adopted the
reasoning of the Fourth, Sixth, and Eighth Circuits, which have all held
that no change from mandatory language to permissive language was
deliberate. 12

1 Consequently, because Brown's violation of the Wiretap
Act was minimal, and because the district court did award DTV
substantial relief, including an injunction, actual damages, and attorney
fees and costs, the Eleventh Circuit held that "an award of liquidated
damages could easily be viewed as gratuitous," and that the district
court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow the award. 129

2. Existence of Private Right of Action for Possession of an
Eavesdropping Device in Violation of the Wiretap Act. In
DIRECTV, Inc. v. Treworgy,"s ° the court was again asked to construe
the language of the Wiretap Act in a case filed by DIRECTV ("D-
TV").l3l The issue on appeal was whether § 2520(a) provided a private
right of action against persons who possess devices used to intercept
satellite transmissions in violation of § 2512(1)(b). "'32 DTV alleged that
Treworgy possessed and used pirate access devices to intercept and
decrypt satellite pay-per-view and premium programs from DTV. DTV
argued that the Wiretap Act created a private right of action against
persons in possession of these pirate access devices. The district court
granted Treworgy's motion to dismiss the pirate access device claim, and
the parties moved jointly for certification of an interlocutory appeal. 3'

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals was the first circuit to address
this issue, although it recognized that this question has produced
"divergent rulings" in the district courts addressing it." Beginning
with the plain language of the statute, the court recognized that
§ 2520(a) provides a civil remedy for the victim of the theft of an
electronic communication, and § 2512(1)(b) provides for criminal
punishment for those involved in trafficking devices used for the theft

127. Id. at 817-18.
128. Id. at 818. "A contrary view of the Seventh Circuit is based on a method of

statutory interpretation-a change in plain language is meaningless unless explained in
legislative history-that appears to us backwards." Id.

129. Id. at 819.
130. 373 F.3d 1124 (11th Cir. 2004).
131. Id. at 1126.
132. Id. at 1125; 18 U.S.C. § 2512(1)(b) (2000).
133. Treworgy, 373 F.3d at 1125.
134. Id. at 1125-26.

1378 [Vol. 56



2005] TRIAL PRACTICE 1379

of electronic communications.'35 DTV argued that the existence of a
private right of action for violations of § 2512(1)(b) would better
effectuate the purpose of the Wiretap Act, and the availability of this
private right of action would encourage private attorneys general aid in
the enforcement of federal law. 136 Deciding that DTV's reading of
§ 2520(a) was "tortured," the court held, in pertinent part, as follows:

Because it creates a civil remedy, section 2520(a) properly defines both
the victims for whose benefit the remedy exists and the offenders for
whom liability is owed. The plaintiff is "any person whose wire, oral,
or electronic communication is intercepted, disclosed, or intentionally
used in violation of this chapter." 18 U.S.C. § 2520(a). The defendant
is "the person or entity who engaged in that violation." Id. The phrase
"which engaged in that violation" makes apparent the intent of
Congress to limit liability to a certain class of defendants. 18 U.S.C.
§ 2520(a) .... As explained by one district court, "as a matter of
grammar and sentence structure, the phrase 'that violation' refers to
the interception, disclosure, or intentional use of communications
mentioned earlier in the sentence, and not to the possession of
prohibited devices."'37

The court also held that DTV's arguments were "constitutionally
problematic" because possession of a pirate access device alone, although
a criminal offense, created nothing more than conjectural or hypothetical
harm to DTV. 3

8 Without an allegation that DTV was actually injured
or directly threatened with injury by Treworgy's conduct, the court
stated it was "difficult to understand" how DTV could establish a "case"
or "controversy" within the meaning of Article III... of the United
States Constitution.140  Further, the court determined this reading
consistent with the earlier version of § 2520(a), concluding as follows:

The 1986 amendments streamlined the language of the statute,
constricted the class of persons liable, and brought electronic communi-
cations within the coverage of the statute. Congress replaced its
earlier, more verbose version with the simpler wording, "the person or
entity ... which engaged in that violation." Congress also removed
from the class of persons liable those who procured an interception,
disclosure, or use of protected communications. Finally, Congress

135. Id. at 1126.
136. Id. at 1128.
137. Id. at 1127 (quoting DIRECTV, Inc. v. Bertram, 296 F. Supp. 2d 1021, 1024 (D.

Minn. 2003)).
138. Id.
139. U.S. CONST. art. III, § 2, cl. 1.
140. Treworgy, 373 F.3d at 1127.
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amended section 2520 to cover the interception, disclosure, or
intentional use of electronic communications in addition to the wire or
oral communications that were already protected from theft. 4'

The court thus upheld the district court's finding that in amending
§ 2520, Congress did not create a private right of action against persons

in possession of access devices in violation of § 2512(1)(b). 142

B. The Effect of the Intracorporate Conspiracy Doctrine on Civil

Conspiracy Claims

In Kirwin v. Price Communications Corp.,4 ' the court addressed

another issue of first impression: whether the "intracorporate conspiracy

doctrine" bars a civil conspiracy claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)' 44 of
the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO"). 45

The intracorporate conspiracy doctrine holds that acts of corporate

agents are attributed to the corporation itself, thereby negating the

multiplicity of actors necessary for the formation of a conspiracy. 46

Therefore, a corporation cannot conspire with its employees, and its

employees cannot conspire amongst themselves when acting in the scope

of their employment. 1
4
1

In Kirwin plaintiffs asserted civil conspiracy claims under § 1962(d)
arising out of a short-form merger that they contended eliminated their

minority interest in certain companies of defendant. Subsections (a) and

(b) made it unlawful for persons to use illegally obtained income to

purchase interests in, or control organizations, or both that were
engaged in, or whose activities affected, interstate or foreign com-

merce. 48  Subsection (c) made it unlawful for employees of those

organizations to participate in the organization's affairs, conduct the

organization's affairs, or both "through a pattern of racketeering activity
or collections of unlawful debt. "149 Subsection (d) made it unlawful for

141. Id. at 1128 (internal citations omitted). The earlier version of this section read
as follows: "Any person whose wire or oral communication is intercepted, disclosed, or used
in violation of this chapter shall (1) have a civil cause of action against any person who
intercepts, discloses, or uses, or procures any other person to intercept, disclose, or use
such communications .. . " Id.

142. Id. at 1129.
143. 391 F.3d 1323 (11th Cir. 2004).
144. 18 U.S.C. § 1292(d) (2000).
145. Kirwin, 391 F.3d at 1326.
146. Id.
147. Id. (citing McAndrew v. Lockheed Martin Corp., 206 F.3d 1031, 1035 (11th Cir.

2000) (en banc)).
148. Id. at 1326-27.
149. Id. at 1326 n.3.
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any person to conspire to violate any of the provisions of subsections (a),
(b), or (c).150

Acknowledging that the Eleventh Circuit had never decided whether
the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine bars § 1962(d) claims, the court
recognized that the four circuits that had addressed the issue were
split.'5 ' Although the Seventh and Ninth Circuits had held that the
intracorporate conspiracy doctrine did not bar § 1962(d) claims, the
Fourth and Eighth Circuits had reached the opposite conclusion. 5 2

Joining the Seventh and Ninth Circuits, as well as looking primarily to
its own prior decision in McAndrew v. Lockheed Martin Corp.,"5 the
Eleventh Circuit held that the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine does
not bar § 1962(d) claims.154

In McAndrew plaintiff brought a civil conspiracy claim under 42
U.S.C. § 1985(2) 1"5 based on facts that also constituted a criminal
conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 1512.' Defendants asserted
the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine shielded them from liability, but
the court disagreed, holding that "just as the intracorporate conspiracy
doctrine cannot shield a criminal conspiracy from prosecution under the
federal criminal code, the doctrine cannot shield the same conspiracy,
alleging the same criminal wrongdoing, from civil liability arising under
42 U.S.C. § 1985(2)."1"7 In Kirwin although plaintiffs based their civil
conspiracy claims on § 1962(d) rather than § 1985,58 the Eleventh
Circuit held that "the principle expressed in McAndrew is wholly
applicable here. That is to say, the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine
cannot be invoked to defeat a § 1962(d) claim. Corporations and their
agents are distinct entities and, thus, agents may be held liable for their
own conspiratorial actions."1 59 Accordingly, the Eleventh Circuit joined
the Seventh and Ninth Circuits in holding that the intracorporate
conspiracy doctrine does not bar § 1962(d) claims. 60

150. Id.
151. Id. at 1326.
152. Id.
153. 206 F.3d 1031 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc).
154. Kirwin, 391 F.3d at 1326 (citing McAndrew, 206 F.3d 1031).
155. 42 U.S.C. § 1985(2) (2000).
156. Kirwin, 391 F.3d at 1326 (citing McAndrew, 206 F.3d at 1034); 18 U.S.C. §§ 371,

1512 (2000).
157. Kirwin, 391 F.3d at 1326-27 (citing McAndrew, 206 F.3d at 1034).
158. 42 U.S.C. § 1985 (2000).
159. Kirwin, 391 F.3d at 1327 (internal citations omitted).
160. Id.
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C. District Court's Authority to Issue an Ex parte Order to Freeze
Assets or Seize Property of Violators of the Cable Communications
Policy Act

In AT&T Broadband v. Tech Communications, Inc.,'6 1 the court
addressed another issue of first impression in this circuit: whether the
Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984 ("CCPA") 162 authorizes a
district court to issue an ex parte order freezing assets or allowing a
search and seizure of property of an alleged violator of the CCPA."'6

Plaintiff, AT&T Broadband ("AT&T"), filed suit after discovering that
defendant was selling "pirate" cable descramblers in violation of the
CCPA. AT&T sought an ex parte order freezing defendant's assets and
allowing AT&T to seize property related to its claims. The district court
granted the order and the Eleventh Circuit affirmed.1 64

The district court found, with respect to the property seizure, that
probable cause justified a search of defendant's residence and warehouse
facility.'6 5 With respect to the asset freeze, the district court concluded
that defendant "should not be allowed to use [his] remaining assets to
further other cable theft enterprises," and noted that there was a strong
likelihood that any assets unfrozen would not be available to satisfy any
damage award. 66 Defendant argued that the district court's denial of
his motion to unfreeze his assets was improper on the grounds that,
inter alia, the district court lacked authority under § 553(c)(2)(A) of the
CCPA to issue the order freezing his assets in the first place. Defendant
did not dispute that his activity was a violation of § 553(a)(1), but he
maintained that the district court's order was improper because the
CCPA does not explicitly authorize district courts to freeze assets to
prevent violations of § 553(a)(1). 167

The Eleventh Circuit disagreed, citing the very language of § 553(c)-
(2)(A), which states that district courts are authorized to "grant
temporary and final injunctions on such terms as may be reasonable to
prevent or restrain violations of subsection (a)(1).",6 The court also

161. 381 F.3d 1309 (1 1th Cir. 2004). An extension for filing petitions for certiorari was
granted in this case on December 6, 2004.

162. Pub. L. No. 98-549, § 1(a), 98 Stat. 2779 (codified as amended in scattered sections
of 47 U.S.C.).

163. AT&T, 381 F.3d at 1311.
164. Id.
165. Id. at 1313.
166. Id. at 1313-14.
167. Id. at 1315, 1315 n.10.
168. Id. at 1315.
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looked to its prior opinion in FTC v. United States Oil & Gas Corp.,"19
in which the court affirmed an asset freeze under § 13(b) of the Federal
Trade Commission Act,1 7 0 which contained language substantially
similar to the CCPA.171 In addition, because the instant case involved
the public's interest in preventing the sale of pirate cable descramblers,
the court held that the district court's equitable powers applied even
more broadly, thus providing the district court with the proper legal
authority to issue its order freezing the assets. 172 The asset freeze in
this case was also appropriate to prevent defendant from using his
remaining assets to further "other cable theft enterprises."173  The
Eleventh Circuit decided that "to hold otherwise would thwart Congress'
intent in enacting the CCPA: to preserve the economic viability of cable
operators and programmers, and to prevent public subsidization of such
illegal activity."

174

Defendant also argued that the district court lacked statutory
authority under § 553(c)(2)(A) to issue an order allowing AT&T to search
and seize property from his residence. 175 The Eleventh Circuit noted
defendant's failure to account for the district courts' broad inherent
equitable powers. 176 The court reiterated its earlier holding that "the
CCPA, by necessary and inescapable inference," does not limit the
district courts' broad equitable powers. 1

1
7 Accordingly, the court held

that "an ex parte search and seizure order directed at a defendant's
residence, while certainly more drastic than an ex parte asset freeze, is
an appropriate equitable remedy to protect the Congressional intent of
the CCPA."7 5 Moreover, the court stated that the record contained
sufficient evidence that other pirate descrambler sellers had disposed of
evidence once given notice that a search was pending.'79 Because
AT&T submitted evidence that a search of defendant's residence would
uncover relevant evidence, which defendant would likely destroy if given

169. 748 F.2d 1431 (11th Cir. 1984) (per curiam).
170. 15 U.S.C. § 13(b) (2000).
171. AT&T, 381 F.3d at 1316.
172. Id.
173. Id. at 1317.
174. Id. at 1318 (citing H.R. REP. No. 98-934, at 84 (1984), reprinted in 1984

U.S.C.C.A.N. 4655, 4721).
175. Id.
176. Id. (citing Porter v. Warner Holding Co., 328 U.S. 395 (1946) holding that, unless

the underlying statute clearly and validly limits the district court's equitable jurisdiction,
all the district court's inherent equitable powers are available for the proper and complete
exercise of that jurisdiction).

177. Id. at 1319.
178. Id.
179. Id.
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prior notice of the pending search, the court held that AT&T's request
for an ex parte order for the search was appropriate.' 80

VI. CONCLUSION

The 2004 survey period yielded several noteworthy decisions, many of
which concerned issues of first impression in the Eleventh Circuit.
While the survey is not intended to be exhaustive, the Authors have
attempted to provide material that will be useful to practitioners by
providing them with relevant updates in the area of federal trial practice
and procedure.

180. Id. at 1319-20.
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